## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-2366

LLOYD DUEST,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Special Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0754773 497 Stonehouse Rd. Tallahassee, FL 32301 (305) 984-8344

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the direct appeal of the circuit court's imposition of a sentence of death at Mr. Duest's resentencing. The re-sentencing had been ordered by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. <u>Duest v. Singletary</u>, 997 F.2d 1336 (11th Cir 1993).

#### INTRODUCTION

This appeal arises from the reimposition of a death sentence at a re-sentencing that occurred 15 years after the original trial at which the defense had presented 11 alibi witnesses and vigorously pursued a innocence defense. The conviction rested on circumstantial evidence presented through the testimony of eight witnesses who identified Mr. Duest as the person they had seen on the weekend of the murder in Ft. Lauderdale that they knew as "Danny." The original trial was a classic credibility battle that resulted in a conviction of one count, premeditated murder.

Between the original trial and the re-sentencing, <u>Brady</u> material surfaced, but was held by this Court to not sufficiently undermine confidence in the outcome to warrant a new trial. At the re-sentencing, the State's medical examiner revealed that his trial testimony had been "incorrect." The change in his testimony led the resentencing judge to conclude that the previously found cold,

On May 9, 2001, while this appeal was pending before this Court, Mr. Duest sought a relinquishment based on newspaper accounts indicating that the Broward County Sheriff's Office had ordered DNA testing in Mr. Duest's case. Mr. Duest sought the opportunity to institute Rule 3.850 proceedings to challenge his conviction. On May 24, 2001, the State opposed Mr. Duest's motion. On June 18, 2001, this Court denied Mr. Duest's motion.

calculated and premeditated aggravator did not apply, and that in fact, there had been no intent to kill.

At the re-sentencing, the State sought to prove aggravating circumstances through the presentation of several of the witnesses who had identified Mr. Duest as the individual they knew as "Danny." The State then sought to preclude the defense from challenging the reliability of the identification of Mr. Duest through the presentation witnesses who would have impeached the identification. The resentencing judge granted the State's request and precluded the defense from presenting any evidence "about the facts of this case." The defense was thus unable to challenge the State witnesses identification of Mr. Duest.

As a result, Mr. Duest has never had cumulatively consideration of the exculpatory evidence that the State failed to disclose at the time of the original trial. And at the re-sentencing, he was denied the right to defend, challenge the State's case, and present favorable evidence relevant to determination of whether the aggravating circumstances urged by the State, in fact existed.<sup>2</sup> The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>For example, Mr. Duest was never indicted nor convicted of robbing Mr. Pope, the deceased. The State sought to prove that Mr. Duest committed such a robbery through the presentation of witnesses identifying Mr. Duest as the person who was observed doing certain acts on the weekend of February

adversarial process has not worked In Mr. Duest's case in a manner consistent with the requirements of due process.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 15, 1982, 64 year-old John Pope was found dead from multiple stab wounds. David Shifflett, Mr. Pope's roommate of six months, arrived home at 6:15 p.m. (T2. 428).<sup>3</sup> He notice Mr. Pope's car, a gold Camero, was gone and the front door open (T2. 413, 429). It was not until after 8:00 p.m. when a friend arrived that Mr. Shifflet noticed a light on in Mr. Pope's bathroom and his bed covered with blood (T2. 419). At that point, the police were called. The police discovered Mr. Pope's body in his bathroom (T2. 419).<sup>4</sup>

Neil O'Donnell was the bar manager at Lefty's, which he described as "a neighborhood gay bar" (T2. 444). He knew Mr. Pope, but not by name, as a regular customer (T2. 447). He saw Mr. Pope arrive at Lefty's on Monday, February 15, 1982, at "[a]pproximately 2:30, 3 o'clock in the afternoon" (T2.

<sup>13-15, 1982,</sup> which the State asserted constituted circumstantial evidence of the robbery. By virtue of the Court's ruling, Mr. Duest was precluded from presenting a defense to the robbery allegation.

 $<sup>^{3}\</sup>text{Mr.}$  Shifflet was "approximately forty years younger than Mr. Pope" (T2. 577).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>When the police arrived, they found the clothes dryer running with clothes inside (R1. 474).

448). Mr. Pope came into the bar and sat next to an individual that Mr. O'Donnell described as "[a]pproximately five foot eight, five foot nine; medium brown hair, sort of long; 25 to 32, something like that" (T2. 450). He "believe[d]" the hair was "bushy" (T2. 474). This individual was wearing "a gray jogging suit" (T2. 451). Mr. O'Donnell had seen this individual once before, in the bar the previous night wearing the same jogging suit (T2. 452). He believed he heard someone use the name "Danny, but I mean I'm not sure. I couldn't swear to that." (T2. 453). Within ten minutes of Mr. Pope's arrival, Mr. Pope left with the man in the jogging suit (T2, 454).

On February 17, 1982, Mr. O'Donnell helped prepare a composite sketch of the person who departed Lefty's with Mr. Pope (T2. 455). On April 20, 1982, the police asked Mr. O'Donnell to look at a photo-array. He picked out one of the photos and signed an affidavit (T2. 457). A week later, the police then asked Mr. O'Donnell to look at a live line-up (T2. 475). At the line-up, there was only one of the individuals from the photo-array; that was the person whose photograph he had identified a week before. That individual was Lloyd Duest. Mr. O'Donnell again identified him, even though he looked "a little different" (T2. 473). His hair was shorter;

it was straight, not bushy; and he was wearing glasses (T2. 463, 473-74).

Meanwhile, the police had talked to Michael Demizio. had traveled from Albany, New York, to Ft. Lauderdale by bus beginning on February 11, 1982 (T2. 522). On the trip he met an individual who identified himself as "Danny" (T2. 522). They started sitting with each other "around Washington, D.C." (T2. 523). Danny told Demizio that "he used to beat up fags, roll fags, take them back to their house and rob them" (T2. 524). They arrived in Ft. Lauderdale on Saturday, February  $13^{th}$  at around 6:00p.m. (T2. 523). They went looking for a place to stay. They "ran into a guy that was sitting on a car, his name was John" (T2. 525). He invited them to stay at his place. They went there briefly where they met his roommate Joanne Wioncek, before going out to "a party" (T2. 527). At the party, Demizio met a girl, Tammy Dugan (T2. 528). At the time, Tammy was 15 years old (T2. 516). During the "party," all of the participants drank alcohol and consumed "pot and Quaaludes." (T2. 539). The participants returned to John's place "at 5 o'clock in the morning or whatever" (T2. 539). There, the "party" continued (T2. 540).

 $<sup>^5</sup> Mr.$  Duest is also 5' 10" (R1. 1811), and not 5'7" as Mr. O'Donnell originally described "Danny" (R1. 1704).

They "just hung out, relaxed, sat around" (T2. 528).

On Monday, February 15, 1982, Demizio left the apartment in order to try and get a job at a restaurant (T2. 528). When he returned to the apartment at "3:30, 4 o'clock," "Danny pulled up in a brown Camero" (T2. 529). Danny was wearing a jogging suit, "[g]ray, dark brown, brown with stripes on it" (T2. 530). Demizio saw some blood on the collar and the sleeve (R2. 531). Danny had a scratch on his face (T2. 531). Danny then "took off" (T2. 531). No one else from the apartment came down to the car before Danny took off (T2. 542). Demizio identified Lloyd Duest as Danny (T2. 524).

Tammy Dugan remembered that she "met three people at a bar and we had had a party" (T2. 498). The three were "a man named Danny, a man named Michael Demizio, and a man named John Scarpano." The bar was named "Andy's" (T2. 500). The foursome "started partying together, and it ended up into an all-night thing and carried on into the next day" (T2. 498). They were joined by Joanne Wioncek and a girlfriend of Tammy's from New York named LaDonna, "I don't know her last name" (T2. 499). Tammy was drinking and "on drugs" (T2. 512).

Tammy described Danny as "five seven-five, five-eight, sandy hair parted to the side, mustache, medium build" (T2. 501). He only wore "a gray sweat suit" (T2. 502). He had "a

tattoo on his arm and I remember a scar" (T2. 502). However, Tammy was unsure where Danny had the scar ("Q. You don't know where the scar was?" "A. Right. Correct." T2. 502). Tammy "had had a lot Saturday night. It was a very heavy night" (T2. 503). Tammy explained that "Sunday I don't remember, you know" (T2. 503).

Tammy "like[d] Michael [Demizio]" (T2. 501). She ended up staying with him at the apartment "for about a week, two weeks" (T2. 502). On Monday while Demizio was gone, she remembered Danny saying "he was going to go to a gay bar and, you know, pretend that he was gay and pick up a guy and go home with him and then, you know, steal his money" (T2. 503). Danny left "for sometime until he returned with an older man" (T2. 504). Joanne Wioneck was in the apartment too. Tammy "was introduced to the old man. I don't remember his name" (T2. 505). Danny and the old man soon left in a gold Camero (T2. 505). Danny returned alone in the Camero "between four and five" (T2. 505). He was tense, but he had been told to leave the apartment (T2. 506).

Tammy was subsequently shown "a photograph of the lineup" that included Lloyd Duest (T2. 508). She selected the photograph of Mr. Duest as the person she "believed to be Danny' (T2. 508). She subsequently identified Mr. Duest at

his trial as "Danny."

In February of 1982, Joanne Wioncek lived with John Scarpano in an efficiency (T2. 481, 486). On Saturday, February 13, 1982, when she got home, she found Mike Demizio, Tammy Dugan and Danny were staying at the apartment (T2. 482). "[T]hey all went out partying about fifteen minutes after [Joanne] got home" (T2. 493). Later, she was awakened "by people coming through my house and whatever they were doing in it" (T2. 493). The people were very spaced out. "They were totaled" (T2. 493). A window in the apartment door was broken.

On Monday, Joanne called her employer and reported she was sick because of "lack of sleep" (T2. 483). Danny came into the apartment at 3 o'clock (T2. 483). Joanne and Tammy were watching General Hospital. Danny was accompanied by a bald gentleman that she identified, based upon a photograph, as Mr. Pope (T2. 484). They had arrived in a gold Camero (T2. 485). Danny went into the closet for a short time, then turned around and left (T2. 487). At about 4:30, he returned alone in the gold Camero (T2. 488). Danny showed Joanne, Demizio and Tammy some jewelry (T2. 489). At that time, Joanne said "we were in the process of asking Danny to leave our home" (T2. 490). So he left. She was subsequently shown

a composite which she said resembled Danny (T2. 490). Later, she identified Lloyd Duest as Danny (T2. 486).

On April 18, 1982, Lloyd Duest was picked up for questioning in Ft. Lauderdale (R1. 836). He was asked to voluntarily accompany a police officer to the station for questioning regarding a homicide (R1. 844). Mr. Duest voluntarily went with the police; he was not under arrest. During questioning, he indicated that "he just arrived [in Ft. Lauderdale] approximately a week ago via [a] Trailways bus" (R1. 877).

Mr. Duest identified himself as Robert Brigida. When the police ran a check on the name, they found that there was a warrant from Massachusetts for Robert Brigida (R1. 37-38).

Mr. Duest was advised that he was "under arrest for warrants in Massachusetts, at which time he replied, 'I was afraid you were going to find out about those'" (R1. 882). Unbeknownst to the Ft. Lauderdale police, Mr. Duest was also wanted.

Nineteen months before, he had escaped while awaiting trial in Massachusetts and was using an alias (R1. 1809). After being fingerprinted on April 18th, Mr. Duest tried to flee (R1. 882). He was located at approximately 6:00 a.m. the next morning. The State presented this attempted flight as evidence establishing Mr. Duest's consciousness of guilt (The

prosecutor argued, "All the man had to do was say I am not Bobby Brigida and then he would be clear." R1. 1448).

However, the defense could not respond without revealing the fact that such a revelation would have led to the discovery of numerous outstanding charges for Mr. Duest in Massachusetts (R1. 37-38).6

The police attempted to check out Mr. Duest's claim to have arrived in Ft. Lauderdale in early April. A police officer went to the Trailways Bus Station to look for Mr. Duest's belongings that he said he had left there in a locker when he arrived (R1. 888). According to the police, the search was unsuccessful; it produced no evidence corroborating Mr. Duest's claim that he had arrived in Ft. Lauderdale a week before he was stopped for questioning (R1. 895).

On April 20, 1982, an arrest warrant issued against "Robert S. Brigida, aka Danny, aka Bob, aka Bobby S. Brigida (R1. 1702). The warrant was issued on the basis of the affidavit executed by Deputy Feltgen. According to Deputy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The State's use of this evidence in this fashion seems to violate this Court's decision in <u>Merritt v. State</u>, 523 So.2d 573 (Fla. 1988). However, when the issue was raised as appellate ineffective assistance of counsel in Mr. Duest habeas petition, this Court did not address <u>Merritt</u>. It simply held that appellate counsel was not ineffective because relief would have been denied under the rationale of <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 471 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1985). <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849 (Fla. 849).

Feltgen, Mr. Pope had been last seen at Lefty's Bar by Neil O'Donnell who reported that Mr. Pope "left the bar in the company of a white male, approximately twenty-five to thirty years of age, 5'7" - 5'8", with bushy brown hair, bushy sideburns, and a mustache." Deputy Feltgen reported that "Neil O'Donnell stated that the said white male had been observed inside Lefty's on the past three evenings" (R1. 1704). Deputy Feltgen further reported that on April 20, 1982, he displayed a photo line-up to Demizio and O'Donnell and that they both identified Robert Brigida (R1. 1706).

When he was arrested, Mr. Duest advised the police that he had just traveled from Boston, Massachusetts, to the Ft. Lauderdale area on April 5, 1982. Deputies from the Broward County Sheriff's Office testified that they attempted to corroborate Mr. Duest's claim that he had recently arrived in Ft. Lauderdale via a bus. However, Deputy Feltgen testified that when law enforcement personnel sought to verify Mr. Duest's arrival via a Trailways bus in early April of 1982, no

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$ According to the presentence investigation prepared in Mr. Duest's case, Mr. Duest "stands 5'10" and weighs 175 lbs" and he was born on 10-27-51 (R1. 1811).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>This was not O'Donnell's trial testimony. And it was inconsistent with Demizio's testimony that "Danny" traveled with Demizio on a bus and arrived in Ft. Lauderdale at 6:00 p.m. on Saturday, February 13, 1982.

physical evidence to support the claim could be found (R1. 887-88, 895).9

On April 30, 1982, Mr. Duest was picked out of a live lineup by Neil O'Donnell and Mike Demizio (R1. 990-91). On May 12, 1982, Mr. Duest was indicted for the premeditated murder of Mr. Pope (R1. 1701). The indictment only contained the one count. There was no charge of robbery. The indictment contained no reference to a finding of probable cause regarding any aggravating circumstances.

Mr. Duest's trial began March 7, 1983. Mr. Duest was not matched to any physical evidence was found at the crime scene. Five latent fingerprints were lifted from the bathroom door alone (R1. 471). The lifted prints were submitted to a fingerprint examiner (R1. 473). There was some hearsay testimony that the examiner found the majority of the prints not suitable for comparison, no evidence was presented regarding the results of any comparison as to the usable latent print (R1. 472). A forensic serologist testified, but gave no testimony that any of Mr Duest's blood was found at the crime scene (R1. 862-73).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>What was not revealed until public records were provided in post-conviction proceedings was the fact that in the personal effects taken from Mr. Duest at the time of his arrest was a bus ticket reflecting travel from Boston, Massachusetts, to Miami commencing April 5, 1982 (PC-R. 193).

The focus of the trial was on the issue of identity, i.e. whether Lloyd Duest was the person known as "Danny" who was in Ft. Lauderdale on February 15, 1982. During the trial, the State called Neil O'Donnell to identify Lloyd Duest as the person seen leaving Lefty's with Mr. Pope. Michael Demizio (R1. 642), Tammy Dugan (R1. 807), and Joanne Wioncek (R1. 929) were called and identified Mr. Duest as Danny" and testified to seeing items in "Danny's" possession after the time the homicide would have occurred, which fit the description of items missing from Mr. Pope's residence.

At the conclusion of the State's case, Mr. Duest's counsel argued a "motion for judgment of acquittal as to the murder in the first degree" (R1. 1851). In support of the motion, counsel stated:

Judge, all I can say, the State has proceeded on, admittedly in their opening argument and throughout the case, that there are circumstantial evidence. I will submit that the evidence has not been presented concerning a premeditated act does not exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence as concerning premeditation, insofar as his state of mind at the time that the incident occurred.

(R1. 1854). The prosecutor responded by citing the evidence that he believed supported premeditation. He concluded, "I think as to sufficiency, I think it is a compelling - quite honestly I feel it is an extremely strong case against this.

At least it is a sufficient" (R1. 1855). The judge responded,

"I think at this point it is at least sufficient. I am going to deny your motion" (R1. 1855-56).

In his defense, Mr. Duest presented a number of witnesses from Watertown, Massachusetts, to testify that during President's Day weekend in 1982, Mr. Duest had been in Watertown. Mr. Duest had previously escaped from incarceration in Massachusetts and was hiding from law enforcement in the family home (PC-R. 169-72). Because he was an escapee, his family undertook to hide his presence from all but trusted friends. However, the jury was not advised that Mr. Duest was on the lam. The defense witnesses were thus unable to explain the reason for Mr. Duest's seemingly odd behavior that they described in there testimony. The prosecutor in his closing described it as "cameo appearances" that were similar to those employed by movie director, "Alfred Hitchcock" (R1. 1396-97).

Mr. Duest's mother testified that she saw her son on Saturday, February 13<sup>th</sup> (R1. 1195). However, she was unaware of his whereabouts for the following two days (R1. 1200). She also recalled, as part of her testimony, that she and her husband had taken Lloyd to the bus station to catch a bus to Ft. Lauderdale in early April (R1. 1192-95).

Richard Duest (Lloyd's father) testified that he saw

Lloyd Duest cleaning his van on February 15<sup>th</sup> and Lloyd gave his dad a yellow sales slip from an auto parts store (R1. 1235). Richard Duest recalled taking Lloyd to the Boston bus station on April 5, 1982 (R1. 1232).

Also testifying for Lloyd Duest at his trial were: Debra Duest (Lloyd's sister)(R1. 1018, 1022), Eddie Lavache (her fiancé)(R1. 1914), Paul Duest (Lloyd's brother)(R1. 1074, 1078), Nancy Kerrigan (Lloyd's other sister)(R1. 1992), Matthew and Diane Turner (family friends)(R1. 1863, 1887), Frank Duest (Lloyd's uncle)(R1. 1095), Mark Duest (Lloyd's cousin)(R1. 1115), and Stephen Fralick (the owner of an auto parts store who testified that Lloyd purchased a fan belt on February 15th and produced a receipt)(R1. 1954). They each reported seeing Lloyd Duest in Watertown, Massachusetts on February 14th and/or February 15th.

In rebuttal, the State called William Long on March 17, 1983 (R1. 1300). Mr. Long was the individual who tipped the police off on April 18, 1982, that the suspect was in Ft. Lauderdale (R1. 1302). However, Mr. Long gave the police a false name for himself (R1. 1312). During Mr. Duest's trial,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The prosecutor noted while the parties argued the defense' motion for judgment of acquittal at the end of the State's case, that he had received a phone call from a potential witness that turned out to be Richard Long (R1. 1858).

the police ran an ad in a gay magazine in Ft. Lauderdale seeking to locate the April 18<sup>th</sup> tipster (R1. 1313). The manager at Lefty's, who was aware of the progress Mr. Duest's trial told Mr. Long, "I think this might be you" (R1. 1313). The manager told Mr. Long "that this guy that was with you killed somebody" (R1. 1329).

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