SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-2366

LLOYD DUEST,

Appellant,

- versus -

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MELANIE ANN DALE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0168556

CELIA A. TERENZIO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No..0656879 1515 N. Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, Fl 33401

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I: This court does not have jurisdiction to review Duest's Brady claim, as the conviction is law of the case. Moreover, any claim was not preserved for appellate review as petitioner made no objection below. Lastly, Dr. Wrights changed testimony did not constitute a Brady violation as Duest immediately impeached him with a deposition from 1983.

POINT II: The trial court properly found that the state had no obligation to disclose NCIC criminal records of all State witnesses where Duest failed to show that he diligently attempted to obtain the records from another source.

POINT III: The trial court properly precluded Duest from presenting residual doubt evidence as a defense to the felony murder aggravator.

POINT IV: The trial court properly denied Duest's request to present and instruct the jury regarding residual doubt evidence.

POINT V: The trial court properly refused to instruct the jury on the statutory mitigator that the victim participated in his own death as it was not supported by the record. The trial court properly refused to instruct the jury regarding the statutory mental health mitigators because the were not supported by the record. Furthermore, the trial court properly instructed the jury on the Cold Calculated and Premeditated aggravator because it was supported by competent and credible evidence.

POINT VI: Dr. Fleming was permitted to testify regarding her psychological evaluation of Duest and there is no evidence in the record to support Duest's claim that she was precluded from relating the entirety of her findings.

POINT VII: Dr. Fleming properly testified about Duest's criminal history as she considered it during her evaluation of Duest.

POINT VIII: The trial court properly gave "great weight" to the jury recommendation that Duest be sentenced to death.

POINT IX: The Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel aggravating circumstance, as well as the mitigating factors, are supported by the record.

POINT X: The death sentence is proportional.

POINT XI: The death sentence does not violate Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2001).

ARGUMENT I

APPELLANT WAS NOT DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AS THE STATE DID NOT FAIL TO DISCLOSE EVIDENCE NOR DID IT PRESENT MISLEADING EVIDENCE.

Primarily, appellant claims that the State committed a Brady violation because the Medical Examiner, Dr. Wright, changed his testimony at trial. Duest asks this court to vacate his conviction and remand the case for a new trial. However, the law of the case doctrine precludes Duest from raising issues related to his conviction on appeal from his re-sentencing. Love v. State, 559 So. 2d 198 (Fla. 1990). Moreover, pursuant to the mandate rule, this Court does not have jurisdiction to deviate from the mandate issued by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals which affirmed Duest's conviction yet vacated the death sentence and remanded the case for a new sentencing proceeding (R. Vol. 1 p. 1). Duest v. Singletary, 997 F. 2d 1336 (11th Cir. 1993).

Under the "mandate rule," an inferior court has no power or authority to deviate from the mandate issued by an appellate court, as the mandate rule is a more powerful version of the "law-of-the-case doctrine", which prevents lower courts from reconsidering issues that have already been decided. <u>Independent Petroleum Ass'n of America v. Babbitt</u>, 235 F.3d 588 (C.A.D.C. 2001). The law of the case doctrine, operates to create efficiency, finality and obedience within the judicial system. <u>U.S.</u>

<u>v. Tamayo</u>, 80 F.3d 1514, 1520 (11th Cir. 1996). An appellate decision binds all subsequent proceedings in the same case not only as to explicit rulings, but also as to issues decided necessarily by implication on the prior appeal. <u>Id</u>. Accordingly, a lower court when acting under an appellate court's mandate, cannot vary it. <u>Id</u>.

In <u>U.S. v. Dass</u>, 10 Fed. Appx. 684 (10th Cir. 2001), the court found that on appeal from a re-sentencing, the issues underlying Dass' convictions, which were affirmed on the first appeal, were not reviewable on an appeal of a re-sentencing. Dass' convictions were the law of the case because the mandate to the lower court was to re-sentence, not to re-try the convictions. <u>Id</u>. The Tenth Circuit ruled that remand does not reopen the underlying convictions for review. <u>Id</u>. Similarly, in the instant case, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals specifically remanded Duest's case for re-sentencing, not for a re-trial of the conviction, hence the conviction is law of the case pursuant to the mandate rule and may not be reopened on appeal of his resentencing. This court should deny this claim as it does not have jurisdiction over an affirmed conviction.

Secondly, Duest's claim that Dr. Wright's testimony at the re-sentencing constitutes a Brady violation was not preserved for review because he never objected during Dr. Wrights testimony that the State had committed a Brady violation, rather he chose to impeach Dr. Wright with his 1983 deposition. "An appellate court must

confine itself to a review of only those questions which were before the trial court and upon which a ruling adverse to the appealing party was made." State v. Barber, 301 So. 2d 7, 9 (Fla. 1974). See Sapp v. State, 411 So. 2d 363, 364 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (appellant must bring to appellate court, record that clearly demonstrates trial court's explicit notice of precise grounds of objection); Larkins v. State, 655 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1995)(defendant failed to preserve issue on appeal by failing to make same objection in trial court); Archer v. State, 613 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1993)(for issue preservation, it must be presented to lower court with specific legal argument or grounds); Pope v. State, 646 So. 2d 827 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)(JOA denial not preserved for appeal; failure to raise objection and present argument to trial court for review and ruling Violation of the right to a fair trial based on precludes issue from appeal). prosecution's withholding of exculpatory evidence is normally predicated on defendant's not knowing of withheld evidence; where a defendant is aware of evidence before or during trial, appropriate action is motion to compel discovery or motion to dismiss. Arango v. State, 437 So.2d 1099 (Fla. 1983). Therefore, this claim is not properly before this Court. Hence, there can be no error.

Third, Duest's claim that Dr. Wright's changed testimony constitutes a Brady violation is meritless. The fact that Dr. Wright changed his testimony is not a Brady violation, considering the fact that Duest was prepared to impeach him with the 1983

deposition.

Moreover, should this Court choose to address the merits. Duest has not

satisfied the requirements of Brady. A defendant must demonstrate the following

elements before a Brady violation has been proven: (1) the evidence at issue is

favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeaching;

(2) the evidence has been suppressed by the State, either wilfully or inadvertently; and

(3) the defendant has been prejudiced by the suppression of this evidence. <u>Johnson</u>

v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S718 (Fla. 2001); Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263 (1999);

Way v. State, 760 So.2d 903, 910 (Fla.2000); Thompson v. State, 759 So.2d 650, 662

(Fla.2000).

In this case, at trial Dr. Wright testified that it took between fifteen and twenty

minutes for Mr. Pope to die. Duest immediately impeached Dr. Wright with his

deposition from 1983, during which he testified that it took between two and five

minutes for Mr. Pope to die. Turning to the testimony in question, defense counsel

impeached Dr. Wright during the following colloquy;

Question: Now, with respect to the amount of time that the

victim may have lived, today you indicated that it could

have been between fifteen to twenty minutes, is that correct?

Answer: Yes

Question: Did you ever make a different statement?

15

Answer: Yes

Question: In fact during your deposition you testified –

Mr. Cavanaugh: Objection

The Court: Sustained.

Question: What did you testify, what was the

different statement?

Mr. Cavanaugh: Objection.

The Court: That's all right.

Answer: I don't remember exactly, it's been awhile since I read the deposition, about a week, but it was much shorter than that.

Question: Well, wasn't it five to fifteen seconds?

Answer: Well, that was the minimum time that would be if he lost all his blood pressure from his—I doubt if I said five seconds, I would like to see that.

Question: Would you like to see your deposition to see if that would refresh your recollection?

Answer: That would help. If I said five I was wrong, then it would be ten to fifteen, it's my usual.

Question: I agree, ten to fifteen, ten to fifteen seconds?

Answer: Right, that's how long you have if you have a wound to your heart and immediately drop your blood pressure.

Question: So he could have lived, according to your opinion within a reasonable degree of scientific certainty, could have lived ten to fifteen seconds?

Mr. Cavanaugh: Woe, objection to the form of the question, misleading.

The Court: No, you can continue.

Question: Is that your opinion?

Answer: No, not now, I don't think it was then. I think I was giving you, whoever was asking the questions at that time of the absolute, absolute lowest possibility under any circumstances that would be loss of blood pressure immediately from the heart.

Question: It would have been ten to fifteen?

Answer: Right.

Question: Then you also said, but no more than five minutes, is that correct?

Answer: That is what I testified to back then. Question: That was January 13th, 1993, correct?

Answer: Approximately, I don't remember the exact date, I forgot that.

Question: Well, no more than five minutes, that was 1-13-93?

Answer: Right.

Question: Excuse me, '83, correct?

Answer: Yes.

Question: Today, which is 10-12-98, we are talking fifteen to twenty minutes, correct?

Answer: Yeah, even more. I mean part of that he's unconscious. I mean, we were talking about conscious behavior, I could probably go up to half an hour, if that, he would still have at least the threat pulse or E.K.G. of being alive.

Question: Okay, that had he lived that long is your conclusion that had he picked up the phone and telephoned rescue or police that he certainly would have received treatment and that would have saved his life, is that correct?

Answer: Sure, if he had done that during the first five minutes. There is really just no, he would have done fine and then his—as you go further down the line, ten, fifteen minutes it raises the possibility that he could not be resuscitated but he's not going to cross over to 50/50 until pretty late, that in that time period, that is a 50/50 chance of being successfully resuscitated.

(T. Vol. 4 P. 404-405)

Based on the exchange recounted above the requirements of Brady were not met. Here, the evidence was impeaching, however, immediately after Dr. Wright changed his testimony, defense counsel impeached him with his prior deposition.¹

¹ Duest's claim is more akin to a discovery violation, rather than a Brady violation. In <u>Bush v. State</u>, 461 So. 2d 936, 938 (Fla. 1984), Bush argued that the trial court should have conducted a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry or granted a mistrial because a state investigator's testimony contradicted his earlier deposition. This court found that the claim was not preserved, and that the prosecutors failure to inform the defense of this

There is no Brady violation because, here, defense counsel had the prior deposition in which Dr. Wright gave different testimony, the State did not willfully nor inadvertently suppress the changed testimony as the record reflects the State represented to the trial court on October 5, 1998, the day voir dire began, that Dr. Wright would testify that it took between two and five minutes for Mr. Pope to die (R. Vol. 3 pp. 43-44), and Duest suffered no prejudice because Dr. Wright was immediately impeached. Hence, it is apparent that Dr. Wright's changed testimony did not constitute a Brady violation.

As an additional claim, Duest argues that the trial courts finding that the CCP aggravator had not been proven negates a guilt phase finding of premeditation. As previously argued, Duest has already been convicted of the murder and that conviction is law of the case. Moreover, this claim is meritless because this court has held that in order to find the CCP aggravating circumstance, there must be a showing of heightened premeditation. Hoskins v. State, 707 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 1997); Geralds v. State, 601 So. 2d 1157 (Fla. 1992); Capehart v. State, 583 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1991).

_

change in testimony was not a discovery violation and was not grounds for a mistrial. <u>Id</u>. This court further found that when testimonial discrepancies appear, the witness' trial and deposition testimony can be laid side by side for the jury to consider, and that this would discredit the witness, and should be favorable to the defense. <u>Id</u>. This is exactly what occurred in this case, as Dr. Wright changed his testimony, Duest impeached him, and the jury was able to evaluate the testimony and the deposition.

Duest's argument that the trial court's rejection of the CCP aggravator negates the guilt phase finding of premeditation is improper as the State was not required at the guilt phase to prove <u>heightened</u> premeditation. Hence, this claim must fail.

Lastly, Duest argues that the cumulative effect of the Brady violation combined with the States failure to disclose a bus ticket showing that he traveled from Boston to Florida after the murder entitles him to a new trial. Again, Duest's conviction is law of the case and can not be disturbed on appeal of his resentencing. Moreover, any claim with respect to the bus ticket is procedurally barred as it has been fully litigated and found to be irrelevant to Duest's alibi claim. <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So. 2d 849 (Fla. 1990).

Moreover, even if this court were to consider that it took Pope fifteen to twenty minutes to die, cumulatively with the bus ticket, such evidence does not undermine the conviction because the fact that Duest traveled from Boston to Florida 49 days after the murder is remains irrelevant and has absolutely no connection to how long it took for Mr. Pope to die. In this case, the death sentence must be affirmed.

ARGUMENT II

THE STATE HAS NO OBLIGATION TO PROVIDE APPELLANT WITH CRIMINAL RECORDS OF STATE WITNESSES.

Appellant claims that the trial court erroneously ruled that the State had no obligation to disclose the NCIC criminal records of all the State witnesses. This claim is meritless as the State is not required to provide such records unless Duest has shown that he exercised due diligence to obtain the records from another source from another source, yet was unsuccessful.

Initially, the claim was not preserved for appellate review as the trial court denied the motion without prejudice for Duest to re-raise it at a later time and he failed to do so. See Philmore v. State, 820 So. 2d 919, 932 (Fla. 2002); Franqui v. State, 699 So. 2d 1332, 1334 (Fla. 1997).

The trial court did not abuse it's discretion as Duest bears the initial burden of trying to discover such evidence and the State is not required to prepare the defense's case. Medina v. State, 466 So. 2d 1046, 1049 (Fla. 1985). Under the abuse of discretion standard of review, the appellate court pays substantial deference to the trial court's ruling. A trial court's determination will be upheld by the appellate court "unless the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view

adopted by the trial court." <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980); <u>Trease v. State</u>, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla. 2000), citing <u>Huff v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990).

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